926

lish the outcome of the appellant’s guilty
plea, and further, the Arkansas ‘“hot
check” charge was never defined for the
members.

[1-3] We have no hesitation in conclud-
ing that a properly authenticated computer
print-out can provide proof of a civilian
conviction for the purposes of R.C.M.
1001(b)(3)(A). See United States v. Yec-
kinevich, 26 M.J. 833 (A.F.C.M.R.1988).
Appellate defense counsel maintain that
the document here is deficient in that it
only shows a guilty plea to a “hot check”
charge without indicating the final disposi-
tion of the case and without establishing
what a “hot check” offense entails. As to
the first concern, a plea of guilty consti-
tutes a judicial admission of guilt as to all
elements of the offense. See United
States v. Marsh, 13 U.S.C.M.A. 252, 32
C.M.R. 252 (1962). No additional entry is
required. True, the prosecution did not
establish the final disposition of the appel-
lant’s prior civilian trial, but her trial de-
fense counsel expressly waived any re-
quirement that the Government do so. See
Mil.R.Evid. 103.* As to the appellant’s
concern that the court-members would not
understand what the term ‘“hot check”
meant in relation to a criminal proceeding,
we find that highly unlikely for two rea-
sons. First, everyday usage of the phrase
“hot check” has come to mean uttering a
check backed by insufficient funds. See
United States v. Clay, 48 C.M.R. 335 (N.C.
M.R.1973). Second, the trial judge in-
structed the members that the appellant’s
civiian conviction involved worthless
checks. Accordingly, there is no reason-
able basis to suppose that the members did
not know what a “hot check” conviction
was.

The remaining assigned error is resolved
against the appellant. See United States
v. Freeman, 29 M.J. 865 (A.F.C.M.R.1989).

* The following exchange took placed between the
military judge and the trial defense counsel con-
cerning the appellant’s civilian conviction:

MJ: Is there any objection to Prosecution
Exhibit 12 for Identification?
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For the reasons stated, the findings of
guilty and the sentence are

AFFIRMED.

Judges SPILLMAN and PRATT
concur.
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Accused, Senior Airman, United States
Air Force, was convicted by general court-
martial, Griffiss Air Force Base, New
York, Michael C. Callinan, J., of three of-
fenses of willful disobedience of “safe sex”
order of his commander, pursuant to ac-
cused’s guilty plea, and he appealed. The
United States Air Force Court of Military
Review, Leonard, J., held that: (1) accused
was not entitled to have either guilty pleas
or pretrial agreement set aside; (2) viola-
tion of “safe sex” order did not have to be
charged as violation of general regulation,
rather than as willful disobedience of supe-
rior commissioned officer; and (3) “safe
sex” order had valid military purpose and
was lawful.

Affirmed.

DC: The only objection that we would have is
that the size of the document might unfairly
prejudice the court members. In other
words, it would really attract their attention,
perhaps unfairly so. We would have no ob-
jection to the document if it were reduced.
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1. Military Justice €¢=1324

Military judge was not required to di-
rect one-for-one confinement credit for ac-
cused’s pretrial confinement; credit would
be applied by confinement authorities with-
out direction. R.C.M. 305()(2); AFR 111-1.

2. Military Justice €981

Accused failed to establish he was
pressured into giving up right to contest
lawfulness of “safe sex” order and into
' accepting pretrial agreement in pleading
guilty to willful disobedience of order, and
was not entitled to have guilty pleas or
pretrial agreement set aside, given military
judge’s extremely thorough inquiry into
providency of guilty pleas, voluntariness of
guilty pleas and initiation of and willful-
ness to enter into pretrial agreement, and
of accused’s understanding of lawfulness
of order. UCMJ, Art. 32, 10 U.S.C.A.
§ 832.

3. Military Justice &=1414

Claim that accused’s violation of “safe
sex” order should have been charged as
violation of general regulation or order,
rather than as willful disobedience of supe-
rior commissioned officer, was waived,
where issue was not raised before accused
entered pleas. R.C.M. 905(b)(2); UCMJ,
Arts. 90, 92, 10 U.S.C.A. §§ 890, 892.

4. Military Justice ¢=682

Accused’s disobedience of “safe sex”
order of his commander did not have to be
prosecuted as violation of general regula-
tion or order, rather than as willful disobe-
dience of superior commissioned officer.
UCMJ, Arts. 90, 92, 10 U.S.C.A. §§ 890,
892.

5. Military Justice €=1000

Accused’s unconditional guilty plea to
offenses of willful disobedience of “safe
sex’’ order of his commander waived claim
that “safe sex” order was unlawful as ex-
cessive intrusion on personal rights.
R.C.M. 910(); UCMJ, Art. 90, 10 U.S.C.A.
§ 890.

6. Military Justice ¢=686

“Safe sex” order of accused’s com-
mander had valid military purpose and was
lawful, notwithstanding accused’s claim

that it was excessive intrusion on personal
rights, in view of Air Force’s interest in
preventing spread of deadly, contagious
disease and by doing so to safeguard
health of members of Air Force to ensure
their ability to perform Air Force missions;
uninformed or unprotected sex that violat-
ed order was with one partner who was
also Air Force member and two others who
were dependent wives of Air Force mem-
bers, all three of whom were entitled to
medical care from military medical facili-
ties and had potential for further sexual
activity with other military members.
UCMJ, Art. 90, 10 U.S.C.A. § 890.

Appellate Counsel for the Appellant:
Colonel Richard F. O’Hair and Major Ron-
ald G. Morgan.

Appellate Counsel for the United States:
Colonel Joe R. Lamport, Major Terry M.
Petrie, Captain David G. Nix and Captain
Leonard R. Rippey.

Before FORAY, LEONARD and
MURDOCK, Appellate Military Judges.

DECISION
LEONARD, Judge:

Appellant pleaded guilty to and was con-
victed of three offenses of willful disobedi-
ence of a “safe sex” order of his command-
er. On appeal, he asserts that the military
judge erred by failing to direct one-for-one
confinement credit for his pretrial confine-
ment. Additionally, in a submission pursu-
ant to United States v. Grostefon, 12 M.J.
431 (C.M.A.1982), appellant maintains that
he did not freely enter into the pretrial
agreement in his case and his guilty plea
was improvident because the “safe sex”
order was an unlawful order. On the issue
of unlawfulness of the order, he asks that
we consider two written motions by his
trial defense counsel that are attached to
his record of trial as part of Appellate
Exhibit II. In those motions, the trial de-
fense counsel asserted appellant’s “safe
sex” order was unlawful because it was an
excessive intrusion on personal rights and
was only given to subject the appellant to
increased punishment for violation of an
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already existing duty chargeable under Ar-
ticle 92, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 892. We find
no merit in any of appellant’s assertions.

[11 No error was committed with re-
spect to appellant’s pretrial confinement
credit. Confinement authorities apply the
day-for-day credit for pretrial confinement
and no direction by the military judge is
required. Air Force Regulation 111-1, Mil-
itary Justice Guide, paragraph 15-2c,
(Sep. 1988). Military judges direct credit
only for illegal pretrial confinement.

R.C.M. 305(G)2).

[2] In his Grostefon submission, the ap-
pellant asserts he was pressured into giv-
ing up the right to contest the lawfulness
of his “safe sex” order and into accepting a
pretrial agreement and pleading guilty.
The record does not support appellant’s
claims.

Before pleas were entered, appellant’s
civilian trial defense counsel stated he
would raise two motions concerning the
lawfulness of appellant’s “safe sex” order
and written motions were submitted and
included in Appellate Exhibit II. Shortly
thereafter, the trial was interrupted to ob-
tain the approval of the convening authori-
ty on a defense proposed pretrial agree-
ment. Before the pretrial agreement was
finalized, there was further discussion on
the record concerning the lawfulness of the
order, a defense request to call an expert
witness on this question, and whether a
guilty plea would waive any motions deal-
ing with lawfulness of the order. After a
pretrial agreement was obtained, the de-
fense counsel stated that he would not
litigate any issues concerning unlawfulness
of the ‘“safe sex” order. Appellant then
entered an unconditional guilty plea to all
three offenses alleging willful violation of
this order.

Reviewing the entire record of trial, we
find no support for appellant’s assertion
that he did not freely enter into his pretrial
agreement or voluntarily plead guilty. The
military judge was extremely thorough in
his inquiry into the providency of appel-
lant’s guilty pleas and the voluntariness of
both his guilty pleas and his initiation of
and willingness to enter into the pretrial
agreement. Further, because the issue of
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unlawfulness of the order had been
touched upon earlier, the military judge
also inquired thoroughly into the appel-
lant’s understanding of the lawfulness of
the order. During that inquiry, the appel-
lant agreed the order was lawful and that
he had a duty to obey it. Appellant was
very ably defended by a civilian defense
counsel and an appointed military defense
counsel. Both counsel were very actively
involved on appellant’s behalf in all stages
of his defense from the Article 32, UCMJ
investigation through submission of mat-
ters to the convening authority. There is
no indication in the record of ineffective
assistance of counsel or that appellant was
in anyway pressured into pleading guilty or
entering into the pretrial agreement. Ab-
sent such indications appellant is not enti-
tled to have either his guilty pleas or pre-
trial agreement set aside.

[3,4] The trial defense counsel’s unliti-
gated motion that the “safe sex” order was
unlawful because it was given to subject
appellant to increased punishment was ac-
tually a complaint of defective charging.
The thrust of the motion was that the
violation of the “safe sex” order should
have been charged as a violation of a gen-
eral regulation or order under Article 92,
UCMJ rather than a willful disobedience of
a superior commissioned officer under Arti-
cle 90, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 890. Failure to
raise this issue before entering pleas
waived it. R.C.M. 905(b)(2). Even if the
issue were not waived, it had no merit.
The defense motion contended that the or-
der given appellant by his squadron section
commander merely reinforced previous
“safe sex” orders appellant had been given
by other personnel and therefore was only
given to subject him to increased punish-
ment. This contention ignores the fact
that the previous ‘“‘safe sex” orders were
individual orders given to appellant by
medical personnel who were also Air Force
commissioned officers. The violation of
these orders could also have been charged
under Article 90, UCMJ. MCM, Part IV,
paragraph 13c(1)(a) (1984). The mere fact
one of these orders stated that violation of
the order “may result in ... punishment
under the UCMJ, Article 92, did not re-
quire the government to prosecute only
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under that article. The obvious purpose of
the statement was to warn recipients of the
order that they would be subject to punish-
ment under the UCMJ for violation of the
order and not to limit the way the offense
could be charged.

[5,6] Appellant’s unconditional guilty
plea also waived the issue that the “safe
sex” order was unlawful as an excessive
intrusion on personal rights. R.C.M. 910();
United States v. Dumford, 28 M.J. 836
(A.F.C.M.R.1989). Further, applying the
rationale of Dumford and United States v.
Womack, 27 M.J. 630 (A.F.C.M.R.1988),
aff'd 29 M.J. 88 (C.M.A.1989), we believe
appellant’s “safe sex” order had a valid
military purpose and was lawful. In appel-
lant’s case, the uninformed or unprotected
sex that violated the order was with one
partner who was another Air Force mem-
ber and two others who were dependent
wives of Air Force members. All three
individuals were entitled to medical care
from military medical facilities and had the
potential for further sexual activity with
other military members. The valid military
purpose of appellant’s order was to prevent
the spread of a deadly, contagious disease
and by doing so safeguard the health of
members of the Air Force to insure their
ability to perform Air Force missions.
That military purpose was valid with re-
spect to uninformed or unprotected sexual
activities with all three of the women in-
volved in appellant’s offenses.

Having examined the record of trial, the
assignment of errors, appellant’s submis-
sion pursuant to United States v. Groste-
fon, 12 M.J. 431 (C.M.A.1982), and the
government’s reply, we conclude that the
findings and sentence are correct in law
and fact and that no error materially preju-
dicial to the substantial rights of the ac-
cused was committed. Accordingly, the
findings of guilty and sentence are

AFFIRMED.

Senior Judge FORAY and Judge
MURDOCK concur.
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UNITED STATES
V.

Staff Sergeant Bruce C. PALMER, FR
I United States Air Force.

ACM 27209.
U.S. Air Force Court of Military Review.

Sentence Adjudged 20 Aug. 1989.
Decided 19 Dec. 1989.

Accused, a staff sergeant in the United
States Air Force, was convicted by general
court-martial convened at Homestead Air
Force Base, Florida, Donald E. Weir, J., of
rape, sodomy and multiple indecent as-
saults on his 12-year-old stepdaughter. On
his appeal, the United States Court of Mili-
tary Review, Spillman, J., held that: (1)
evidence was sufficient to allow court
members to determine beyond a reasonable
doubt that penetration occurred; (2) court
members were justified in concluding be-
yond a reasonable doubt that victim did not
willingly consent to having sexual inter-
course with accused and did not consent to
indecent assaults; and (3) testimony of clin-
ical psychologist characterizing typical be-
havior patterns of sexually abused chil-
dren, and relative credibility of child vic-
tim’s recollection of events, was admissible.

Affirmed.

1. Military Justice €563

Evidence in prosecution of accused for
rape of his 12-year-old stepdaughter was
sufficient to allow court members to deter-
mine beyond a reasonable doubt that pen-
etration occurred; victim testified that ac-
cused penetrated her vagina with his penis,
and expert medical testimony establishing
a lack of trauma to victim’'s vaginal area
and an intact hymen was inconclusive evi-
dence as to lack of penetration.

2. Military Justice €=563, 569, 575

Evidence in prosecution of accused for
rape, sodomy and multiple indecent as-



